NO. 68264-4-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

DAVID A. FALSBERG,

Appellant,

٧.

GSK, PLLC, or GLAXO SMITH KLINE, INC., a foreign corporation, also d/b/a GSK, L.L.C., GSK CONSUMER HEALTHCARE, L.P., GSK BIOLOGICALS, NORTH AMERICA, **GSK CONSUMER** HEALTHCARE, L.L.C., and GSK SERVICES, INC., and JACK S. CONWAY, M.D.

Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LEVENTHAL BROWN & PUGA, P.C. MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. James Leventhal, pro hac vice Benjamin Sachs, pro hac vice 950 South Cherry St., Suite 600 Denver, CO 80246 (303) 759-9945

Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033

Attorneys for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

David Falsberg suffered the worst case of Stevens-Johnson Syndrome (SJS) and Toxic Epidermal Necrolysis (TEN) that his Harborview burn doctor had ever seen. SJS and TEN are characterized by a severe rash plus mucosal involvement (e.g., eye pain, mouth and throat pain, blistering around the mouth).

GlaxoSmithKlein (GSK) manufactures Lamictal®, its brand name for the drug lamotrigine. Lamictal® is a leading cause of SJS and TEN. Dr. Jack Conway, David's psychiatrist, prescribed Lamictal® for David. After Dr. Conway increased the dosage, David began suffering flu-like symptoms, eye pain, mouth and throat pain, and blisters around his mouth. Dr. Conway missed the diagnosis, and merely lowered the dosage, causing David's injuries to be much more severe. Several other doctors missed the diagnosis too. Misdiagnosis of SJS and TEN is extremely common.

David alleges that GSK's warning label is inadequate. The trial court dismissed both Dr. Conway (on the statute of limitations) and GSK (finding the warning label adequate as a matter of law). David was wholly incapacitated when his claims accrued, and three highly-qualified experts opined that GSK's label is both inadequate and misleading. This Court should reverse and remand for trial.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment to Dr. Conway and in entering its Order Granting Defendant Conway's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings Pursuant to CR 12(c), dated June 24, 2011. CP 510-13.
- The trial court erred in finding that the statute of limitations "ran" on February 15, 2010 (for informed consent) and on June 25, 2010 (for negligence). CP 512.
- The trial court erred in denying reconsideration and entering its order denying reconsideration on July 25, 2011. CP 570-74.
- 4. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment to GSK and in entering its Order Granting Defendant GSK LLC's Motion for Summary Judgment, dated January 11, 2012. CP 1078-80.
- 5. The trial court erred in concluding that the 2007 Lamcital® label was adequate as a matter of law. CP 1079.
- 6. The trial court erred in concluding that Falsberg was required to present evidence that a specific doctor was actually misled by the false and misleading 2007 Lamictal® labeling in order to establish proximate cause. CP 1079.
- The trial court erred in failing to find numerous genuine issues of material fact precluding summary judgment.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Did the trial court err as a matter of law in failing to give David Falsberg the benefit of the disability-tolling provisions of RCW 4.16.190(1) because his cause of action did not "accrue" at the time of Dr. Conway's last act or omission under RCW 4.16.350?
- 2. Are there genuine issues of material fact on whether and when David Falsberg was an incapacitated person under RCW 11.88.010(1)(a), entitling him to disability tolling under RCW 4.16.190(1)?
- 3. Did the trial court err in ruling that GSK did not have a duty to warn medical providers that rash plus mucosal involvement indicates SJS, where it knew or should have known of the danger of frequently missed diagnoses?
- 4. Did the trial court err in determining that GSK's warnings were "adequate as a matter of law," where several experts opined that they were not only inadequate, but false and misleading?
- 5. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment, where expert opinions raised genuine issues of material fact on whether GSK's warning labels were grossly inadequate and misleading?
- 6. In light of those expert opinions, did the trial court err in determining causation as a matter of law?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Summary judgment review is de novo.

This Court reviews summary judgments *de novo*. *Fiore v. PPG Indus. Inc.*, __ Wn. App. __, ¶12, __ P.3d __ (2012) (citing *Cerrillo v. Esparza*, 158 Wn.2d 194, 199, 142 P.3d 155 (2006)). "Summary judgment is appropriate when there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Id.* (quoting *Cerrillo*, 158 Wn.2d at 200). The facts are taken (and are set forth below) in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Id*.

B. Dr. Conway prescribed Lamictal® for David Falsberg, who developed Stevens-Johnson Syndrome and TEN – the worst case his surgeon at the Harborview Burn Unit had ever seen – and was severely incapacitated.

In 2007, David Falsberg was a patient of Dr. Jack S. Conway, a psychiatrist. CP 26, 81, 227. On February 15, 2007, Dr. Conway prescribed Lamictal® (25 mg.) for David.¹ CP 27, 81, 227. Lamictal® is an anticonvulsant used in the treatment of epilepsy and bipolar disorder. CP 5-6. On March 22, 2007, Dr. Conway increased David's dosage to 150 mg. CP 27, 81, 227.

¹ Because they are both mentioned here, we use David and Nancy Falsberg's first names to avoid confusion.

After the increase, David began experiencing symptoms, including flu-like symptoms (fever, muscle and joint pain), slurred speech, decreased balance, eye pain, mouth and throat pain, and blisters around his mouth. CP 27-28, 227. He and/or his wife, Nancy Falsberg, tried to reach Dr. Conway. CP 227. After finally hearing the symptoms over the phone on April 4, 2007, Dr. Conway did not ask to see David at his office, but decreased the Lamictal® dosage to 75 mg. CP 28, 82, 227.

On April 5, 2007, Nancy found David slumped over their computer with a high fever and a rash on his neck, running down and covering his back. CP 28, 82, 227. She took him to Swedish Physicians Clinic in Ballard with a severe sore throat, severe coughing, high fever, eye redness, nasal drainage, and a severe rash. *Id.*; CP 919. David was misdiagnosed with an upper respiratory infection with conjunctivitis and rash. CP 28, 82, 919. He was given eye drops and discharged home. *Id.*

The next day he was severely worse. CP 227. Nancy immediately took him to Emergency at Swedish/Ballard, where they determined he needed ICU care and transferred him to Swedish/First Hill. *Id.* A dermatologist at Swedish finally diagnosed David with Stevens-Johnson Syndrome (SJS), and

transferred him to the Burn Unit at Harborview, where he was treated for the most severe form of SJS, Toxic Epidermal Necrolysis, or TEN. *Id.*; CP 920-21. It was the worst case his Harborview burn doctor had ever seen. CP 966, 967.

David had been unaware of what was happening to him for days before he was admitted, and long thereafter. CP 228. He was at Harborview from April 6 to July 10, 2007. *Id.*; CP 397. On April 7, he was taken to surgery for debriding and was put into a medically induced coma because of the severity of his burns. CP 227, 403. For most of his hospitalization, he was kept in a coma using a cocktail that included Methadone and Propofol. CP 228.

On or about June 14, 2007, David's doctors concluded that the severe TEN that he endured, and his resulting injuries and disability, were caused by an adverse reaction to Lamictal. CP 50.

In July 2007, David was moved to a rehab unit, where he was unable to see or speak. CP 228. He contracted MRSA and was knocked out by heavy antibiotics and other medications. *Id*. He also had a peg tube surgically inserted into his abdomen and stomach and was heavily sedated. *Id*.

David was so gravely incapacitated when he came home from Harborview that he was completely dependent on Nancy for

nutrition, administration of his complex medication regimen, physical mobility and safety, emotional comfort, and any kind of social interaction. *Id.* From several days prior to his hospitalization until the end of August, David was helpless, dependent, and wholly incapable of appreciating or understanding any legal proceedings or requirements, potential causes of action, or even that he had been wrongfully injured. *Id.*; CP 233.

C. SJS and TEN are characterized by rash combined with mucosal involvement, but experts agree that the warnings on the Lamictal® label are grossly inadequate.

SJS and TEN are characterized by a rash combined with mucosal involvement, such as bloodshot eyes, sore throat, and other pains involving the erosion of the mucous membranes. CP 902, 950, 958, 966. Most doctors may see one or two cases in a lifetime. CP 954, 960, 969. Indeed, it is extremely common for doctors of all kinds to miss the diagnosis initially, as repeatedly happened here. CP 902, 950-52, 954, 966.

Lamictal® is among the principal causes of SJS and TEN. CP 902, 966. As a result, it is vitally important that the Lamictal® warning label be sufficient to warn any sort of physician who might prescribe it, including psychiatrists. CP 954. This information could then be conveyed to the patient so he could recognize the problem

and go to a burn unit, emergency room, or an evaluating physician whom he could ask about SJS/TEN. CP 954, 967, 968.

To give an adequate warning, the labeling should conspicuously state that SJS/TEN is a rash plus mucosal involvement, including a definition of mucosal involvement (e.g., bloodshot eyes, sore throat, painful urination, and erosion of the mucosal surfaces). CP 953, 967. The label should instruct both prescribing physicians and physicians who are responsible for subsequent patient care how to differentiate between a benign rash and a serious life-threatening rash by explaining that if a patient has a rash plus mucosal involvement, they have SJS. CP 953, 967.

Dr. Khandelwal.

Several experts opined that the Lamictal® label is inadequate for numerous reasons. Dr. Anjay Khandelwal, a burn surgeon who currently serves as Director of the Arkansas Children's Hospital Burn Center, treated David at Harborview. CP 966. Based on his knowledge, training, and experience, Dr. Khandelwal opined that the warnings and instructions provided by GSK are inadequate because they do not inform physicians that a rash plus mucosal involvement indicates SJS/TEN. *Id.* The Lamictal® label does not provide necessary warnings or

instructions to properly inform physicians evaluating a patient exhibiting rash plus mucosal involvement that the patient has SJS or TEN. CP 967.

Indeed, the labeling is misleading, where it mentions the risk of SJS in the "black box warning," but the last paragraph contains false and misleading information, claiming it is not possible to distinguish between benign and life threatening rashes (id.):

ALTHOUGH BENIGN RASHES ALSO OCCUR WITH LAMICTAL, IT IS NOT POSSIBLE TO PREDICT RELIABLY WHICH RASHES WILL PROVE TO BE SERIOUS OR LIFE THREATENING. ACCORDINGLY, LAMICTAL SHOULD ORDINARILY BE DISCONTINUED AT THE FIRST SIGN OF RASH, UNLESS THE RASH IS CLEARLY NOT DRUG RELATED. DISCONTINUATION OF TREATMENT MAY NOT PREVENT A RASH FROM BECOMING LIFE THREATENING OR PERMANENTLY DISABLING OR DISFIGURING.

CP 676. David's treating physician and experts each agreed that this paragraph is misleading, both in suggesting that a physician cannot distinguish a benign from a life-threatening rash, and in failing to tell a prescribing physician how to do so, as GSK was required to do. CP 902, 903, 951, 954, 955, 966-67, 969.

Dr. Khandelwal also notes that while the label informs physicians that Lamictal® should be discontinued if a rash occurs, it

² A black box warning is the highest level of warning possible. CP 903.

limits that warning by stating, "unless the rash is [clearly] not drug related." CP 676, 967. Yet "the label gives no information to guide those physicians as to what is or is not drug-related." *Id.* As discussed below, Doctors Lindberg and Dajani opined that GSK was negligent in failing to do so. CP 903, 952-53.

All of this is particularly concerning because, out of the numerous SJS/TEN patients Dr. Khandelwal has treated, all of them had previously been evaluated by one or more physicians, and in "virtually every instance . . . the diagnosis of SJS/TEN was initially missed BY ONE OR MORE PHYSICIANS." CP 966.

2. Dr. Lindberg.

Dr. Gordon Lindberg, Medical Director of the Burn Unit at the University of Colorado Hospital, opined based on his knowledge, training, and experience that the warnings and instructions for Lamictal are inadequate, false, and misleading. CP 901-02. Physicians learn how to warn patients through the drug label. CP 903. A physician should know all salient facts about the drug from reading the label. CP 908. Like Dr. Khandelwal, Dr. Lindberg has treated numerous patients with SJS/TEN, and while virtually all of them were diagnosed with rash plus mucosal involvement, for

virtually all of them, the SJS/TEN diagnosis was initially missed. CP 902.

In addition to telling doctors simply that rash plus mucosal involvement indicates SJS/TEN – which the label fails to do – it should explain "mucosal involvement" as including bloodshot eyes, sore throat, painful urination, and other pains involving erosion of the mucosal surfaces. *Id.* While the Lamictal® product information warns that SJS and TEN are known side effects, it fails to inform physicians how to differentiate a benign rash from a serious rash such as SJS/TEN. *Id.* It thus fails to explain how to differentiate drug-related from non-drug-related rashes. CP 903-04.

Dr. Lindberg also agrees that the label contains false and misleading information in the "box warning," claiming it is not possible to reliably predict which rashes will prove to be serious or life threatening. *Id.* Indeed, Dr. Lindberg believes that it is unconscionable for GSK to state that it is impossible to differentiate between rashes, and then claim that physicians should know that the label is in error in this litigation. CP 908.

3. Dr. Dajani.

Esam Z. Dajani, Ph.D., specializes in clinical pharmacology, toxicology, pharmaceutical research and development, and

regulatory affairs. CP 950. He notes that the drug warning label is a primary source of information for prescribing physicians and for physicians who evaluate potential adverse drug reactions. *Id.* The standard of care requires physicians to read the label when prescribing medications and to be aware of the warnings, contraindications, and signs and symptoms of an adverse reaction. *Id.* The standard of care also requires physicians evaluating adverse drug reactions to be aware of these signs and symptoms and of their potentially life-threatening consequences. *Id.*

Dr. Dajani reviewed thousands of pages GSK produced, documenting adverse events from the time Lamictal® was approved for use until the time David was diagnosed with TEN. CP 950. Fully confirming Drs. Khandelwal's and Lindberg's testimony, these records show many clinical reports of patients who had rash plus mucosal involvement and were seen by one or more clinicians who failed to make the SJS or TEN diagnoses. *Id.* It is essential that the label instruct physicians that if a patient has a rash plus mucosal involvement they have SJS or TEN. CP 951. It negligently fails to do so. CP 953.

Dr. Dajani agrees that the label negligently fails to instruct physicians how to distinguish benign from life-threatening rashes.

CP 951. Indeed, the label falsely states that it is impossible to predict which rashes will prove serious or life threatening. *Id.* The label is therefore inadequate, false, misleading, and negligent. *Id.*

D. GSK knew that its Lamictal® label was inadequate.

Dr. Dajani also opined that GSK knew the importance of including information in the label to instruct physicians that Lamictal® may cause SJS/TEN. CP 951. GSK also knew the importance of including signs and symptoms which differentiate a benign rash from a serious life-threatening rash like SJS/TEN. *Id.* GSK's knowledge is evident from an article published in the official journal of the American Academy of Neurology in 2005, titled "Risk of Stevens-Johnson Syndrome and Toxic Epidermal Necrolysis in New Users of Antiepileptics." CP 951; see also, Neurology article at CP 957-63. This article, published roughly two years before David's injury, recommends that physicians be given specific information so that they can teach their patients how to decide what is a serious rash versus a benign rash. CP 952-53.

Significantly, the authors of this article are all affiliated with GSK in some fashion, and the research was sponsored by GSK.³

³ These affiliations and GSK's sponsorship are noted in the very small print at the bottom of CP 958.

CP 952, 958. Yet GSK never made the change recommended by its own researchers based on its own research studies. CP 953. With the information recommended by the article, David would have been able to point out to his physicians that he was having a drug reaction to Lamictal® and they would have been able to put into context his rash and blood-shot eyes. CP 954, 987.

Dr. Lindberg agrees that by 2005, GSK knew of the need to change its label by adding information to teach prescribing physicians how to differentiate between a benign rash and a serious life-threatening rash. CP 902. The article also states that although SJS and TEN are rare in patients using these drugs, the case characteristics show that the highest risk is during the first two months of use. CP 903. Since most clinicians are likely to see only one or two occurrences in a lifetime, their ability to identify a relatively narrow time window or high risk would facilitate early detection. Id. The label fails to provide this information. CP 902. In fact, the label falsely states that it is not possible to distinguish benign from life-threatening rashes. Id. By at least 2005, GKS knew that it needed to change its false and misleading label, but did nothing before David suffered his severe injuries in 2007. Id.; CP 906.

E. Procedural History.

On July 10, 2008, David sued Dr. Conway. CP 109. He subsequently dismissed this suit without prejudice. *Id.* On April 7, 2010, David filed suit against GSK. CP 1. On July 12, 2010, David filed his amended complaint, adding Dr. Conway, including claims of medical negligence, negligent misrepresentation (by omission), and lack of informed consent. CP 25, 33-36.

On or about May 19, 2011, Dr. Conway sought judgment on the pleadings. CP 107, 115. After a continuance, David responded, including declarations from Nancy and David, and excerpts from David's medical records. CP 210, 212-463. On June 24, 2011, the trial court dismissed the claims against Dr. Conway under the statute of limitations (SOL), finding that the SOL "ran" on February 15, 2010 (for informed consent) and on June 25, 2010 (for negligence). CP 512. On July 22, 2011, the trial court entered an amended order adding a finding that David filed his complaint against Dr. Conway on July 12, 2010. CP 567.

On July 25, 2011, the trial court entered an order denying reconsideration. CP 570-74. It determined that, while "[t]here is no doubt that Mr. Falsberg suffered grievous harm" and "became legally incapacitated (due to a medically-induced coma) for more

than two weeks," David's disability-tolling theory was insufficient, where the inception of his disability did not coincide with the date of the last alleged negligent act or omission attributable to Dr. Conway, but rather two or three days later. *Id.* Concluding that David's claim "accrued" prior to his disability, the court ruled that "the three-year statute of limitations for his medical malpractice action ran roughly two weeks before he filed his lawsuit against Dr. Conway" and was not tolled at all on account of David's disability. *Id.*

On September 9, 2011, the trial court entered a stipulated order dismissing David's CPA claim. CP 581-85.

On December 9, 2011, GSK sought summary judgment. CP 589-613. David responded, including the three expert declarations discussed above, and his own declaration. CP 874-987. On January 12, 2012, the trial court granted summary judgment to GSK. CP 1078-1080.

ARGUMENT

A. The trial court misinterpreted the legal term "accrued" in the proviso of RCW 4.16.190(1), erroneously requiring that a legal disability coincide precisely with the doctor's last act or omission.

Dr Conway asserted that the last day he had any interaction with David was April 4, 2007. CP 465, 472, 478. Dr. Conway conflated "the time the cause of action accrued" under RCW 4.16.190(1) with the date of the "act or omission alleged to have caused the injury or condition" under RCW 4.16.350(3). CP 472.4 Dr. Conway contested that David had any legal disability on April 4, 2007, but that is disputed. *Compare* CP 473 *with* CP 228. The trial court accepted Dr. Conway's argument and granted summary judgment. CP 512, 567.

As discussed below, "accrual" is a legal term of art, not legislatively defined, and does not occur until all the essential elements of liability – duty, breach, causation, and damages – exist and are manifested. See, e.g., CP 525-28. David's cause of action for medical malpractice did not "accrue" on April 4, 2007, before he suffered the injuries and damages caused by Conway's alleged negligence. *Id.* Rather, David established (or at least raised

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