. 68264-4

# ORIGINAL

No. 68264-4-I

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

DAVID A. FALSBERG,

Appellant,

v.

GLAXOSMITHKLINE LLC,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT GLAXOSMITHKLINE LLC

John W. Phillips PHILLIPS LAW GROUP, PLLC 315 Fifth Avenue South, Suite 1000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 382-6163

Attorneys for Respondent GlaxoSmithKline LLC

##

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

### III. ARGUMENT

### A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews de novo an order granting summary judgment. *Rivas v. Overlake Hosp. Med. Ctr.*, 164 Wn.2d 261, 266, 189 P.3d 753 (2008). Summary judgment should be affirmed if "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and ... the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c). A "material fact" is a "fact upon which the outcome of the litigation depends, in whole or in part." *Lamon v. McDonnell Douglas Corp.*, 91 Wn.2d 345, 349, 588 P.2d 1346 (1979). The Court should affirm summary judgment if "reasonable persons could reach but one conclusion." *Seattle Police Officers Guild v. City of Seattle*, 151 Wn.2d 823, 830, 92 P.3d 243 (2004).

Once GSK establishes that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, the burden shifts to Plaintiff to present a genuine issue for trial. *See Young v. Key Pharms., Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). Plaintiff may not rely on mere allegations, denials, opinions, or conclusory statements to create a genuine issue of material fact. *Int'l Ultimate, Inc. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*,

122 Wn. App. 736, 744, 87 P.3d 774 (2004). A party opposing summary judgment "may not rely on speculation [or] argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues remain." *Doty-Fielding v. Town of S. Prairie*, 143 Wn. App. 559, 566, 178 P.3d 1054 (2008). Instead, Plaintiff must come forward with "specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." CR 56(e). Because Plaintiff has failed to do so, this Court should affirm summary judgment in GSK's favor.

# B. GSK's Lamictal® Warnings Are Adequate As a Matter of Law.

1. The 2007 Lamictal® Label Satisfies Washington Law by Warning of the Specific Danger at Issue.

Plaintiff concedes on appeal that his only claim is under the WPLA for alleged failure to warn. App. Br. at 24. Washington courts have adopted Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402A, Comment k, recognizing that "unavoidably unsafe products," such as prescription medications, are incapable of being made safe for their intended use, although they play an important role in treating illnesses and saving lives. *Terhune v. A.H. Robins Co.*, 90 Wn.2d 9, 12, 577 P.2d 975 (1978) (quoting cmt. k (1965)); *see also Ruiz-Guzman v. Amvac Chemical Corp.*, 141 Wn.2d 493, 508-09, 7 P.3d 795 (2000) (incorporating cmt. k under WPLA). Thus, the manufacturer of an unavoidably unsafe product, such as a prescription medication, is not subject to strict product liability when the product is properly prepared and adequately warns of the risk of

injury from the drug's use. *Terhune*, 90 Wn.2d at 13-14. Specifically, the WPLA states that the manufacturer must warn of the "dangers" presented by the product—not, as Plaintiff contends, that it must teach doctors how to diagnose illnesses. RCW 7.72.030(c).

The "danger" here is the risk of SJS/TEN from taking Lamictal®, and the 2007 Lamictal® label plainly and repeatedly warns about this risk.

In every reported Washington decision addressing prescription medications, Washington courts have identified the "danger" about which the manufacturer must warn as the specific adverse event or risk that has been associated with use of the medication. For example, in Estate of LaMontagne v. Bristol-Meyers Squibb, 127 Wn. App. 335, 111 P.3d 857 (2005), the plaintiff alleged that the drug manufacturer failed to adequately warn of the risk of lactic acidosis for patients with kidney dysfunction using the diabetes drug, Glucophage®. 127 Wn. App. at 337. The court affirmed summary judgment for the manufacturer, holding that the warnings were adequate as a matter of law because the label specifically warned of the risk of lactic acidosis in Glucophage®treated patients with impaired renal function. *Id.* at 350-51. The prescribing physicians' choice to prescribe the medication despite the label's warning that it should not be used in that context was "a matter of medical judgment." Id. at 351; accord Adams v. Synthes

Spine, 298 F.3d 1114, 1116-18 (9th Cir. 2002) (applying Washington law, court held that label warned of risk of device breakage and advised that medical device should be removed after healing and, thus, warnings were adequate as a matter of law even though plaintiff's surgeon decided not to remove device that later broke); Washington State Physicians Ins. Exchange v. Fisons Corp, 122 Wn.2d 299, 315, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993) (manufacturer failed to warn because it did not warn of medication's theophiline toxicity); Terhune, 90 Wn.2d at 9, 13, 18 (defendant satisfied duty to warn by warning prescribing physician of the risk that contraceptive device could perforate the uterus, the injury suffered by plaintiff).

Washington case law is entirely consistent with leading case law from around the country, holding that a prescription medication manufacturer satisfies its duty to warn as a matter of law by warning of the specific injury that the plaintiff experienced. *See, e.g.*, *Meridia Prods. Liab. Litig. v. Abbott Labs.*, 447 F.3d 861, 867 (6th Cir. 2006) (prescription-drug label adequately warned of increased blood pressure and need for regular monitoring and did not need to explain to physicians the possible consequences of high blood pressure); *Ziliak v. AstraZeneca LP*, 324 F.3d 518, 519–21 (7th Cir. 2003) (prescription asthma medication label warned that "rare instances of glaucoma, increased intraocular pressure, and cataracts have been reported" and, thus, warnings were adequate as a matter of law when plaintiff experienced these injuries); *Plummer v.* 

Lederle Labs., 819 F.2d 349, 352–53, 357 (2d Cir. 1987) (label warned of possibility of contracting paralytic disease and so was adequate as a matter of law when plaintiff developed paralytic poliomyelitis).

Because the Lamictal® label warned of the precise danger at issue here, it was adequate as a matter of Washington law.

# 2. Plaintiff Proposes an Adequacy Standard That Is Unsupported by the Law and Dangerous to Patients.

Plaintiff departs from Washington law and suggests that the 2007 Lamictal® label not only should have warned of the risk of SJS/TEN, but also should have taught physicians how to diagnose and recognize the symptoms of SJS/TEN. App. Br. at 8. No Washington court has ever imposed such a duty to warn. Nor would it, as a policy matter, be wise to do so.

Among the hundreds of medications that have been associated with SJS/TEN, Plaintiff has not identified any drug label that purports to tell physicians how to diagnose and treat SJS/TEN, and Plaintiff cites no cases imposing such a duty on a drug manufacturer. Moreover, Plaintiff's proposed warnings would be dangerous for patients. Compared to the 2007 Lamictal® label advising physicians to stop the medication at the first sign of *any* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Plaintiff describes the "danger" as a risk that doctors will misdiagnose the disease, App. Br. at 25, but this is just a semantic game. The danger posed by a product is the specific injury associated with its use and the risk factors that make it more likely that the injury will occur.

rash—which is precisely the advice that Dr. Conway followed in treating Plaintiff (CP 636, 646)—Plaintiff's two experts<sup>4</sup> would prefer that the label instruct physicians that they should try to distinguish between a serious and non-serious rash while continuing to administer the drug. See CP 951 at ¶¶ 13-14; CP 904 at ¶¶ 25-26. That would be more dangerous than the label's current direction, while also interfering with a doctor's professional judgment based on his or her superior knowledge of the patient.

A prescription drug label should not replace the skill and training of physicians who act as learned intermediaries between

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Plaintiff also relies on the opinion of a third expert, Dr. Khandelwal, in his Opening Brief. Pursuant to KCLR 56(e), GSK moved to exclude Dr. Khandelwal's declaration because Plaintiff had not identified Dr. Khandelwal as an expert witness in response to GSK's CR 26(b)(5) interrogatory. Judge Yu granted GSK's motion. Pursuant to CR 56(h), Judge Yu's order granting summary judgment listed the evidence she considered on summary judgment, and she excluded Dr. Khandelwal's declaration from the list of evidence she considered. CP 1074-75. Plaintiff's Opening Brief ignores the record and does assign error to Judge Yu's exclusion of Dr. Khandelwal. Plaintiff thus has waived any challenge to the exclusion of Dr. Khandelwal here. See RAP 10.3(g); State v. Motherwell, 114 Wn.2d 368, 788 P.2d 1066 (1990) (claimed error that is not supported by argument is deemed abandoned); cf. State v. Lee, 82 Wn. App. 298, 917 P.2d 159 (1996) ("This court generally does not consider issues raised for the first time by reply brief, as there is no opportunity for an opposing party to respond."), aff'd, 135 Wn.2d 369, 957 P.2d 741 (1996). Even if the exclusion of Dr. Khandelwal were reviewable, Judge Yu plainly did not abuse her discretion in excluding Dr. Khandelwal's untimely submission. See Detwiler v. Gall, Landau & Young Const. Co., 42 Wn. App. 567, 572-73, 712 P.2d 316 (1986) (superior court did not abuse discretion in excluding untimely expert whose opinions were not identified in discovery); M/V La Conte, Inc. v. Leisure, 55 Wn. App. 396, 402, 777 P.2d 1061 (1989) (same).

pharmaceutical manufacturers and patients. The physician knows the patient and his medical history, and based on training and experience, is in the best position to exercise medical judgment in the care of the patient. Dr. Conway had treated Plaintiff for seven years. A physician's medical judgment about the best course for a patient is far more reliable than a diagnostic directive contained in a drug label. Plaintiff's argument invites a dangerous and unfounded extension of a manufacturer's duty to warn by placing the manufacturer—who does not know and cannot observe the patient in the position of medically-trained physicians, an argument that has no support under Washington law and has been rejected by courts across the country. "There is no requirement that the warning apprise the doctor of how to properly diagnose the condition that renders use dangerous." Nichols v. Clare Cmty. Hosp., 476 N.W.2d 493, 495 (Mich. App. 1991) (holding that warning about risk of using product in patient with herpes did not need to provide information about diagnosing the condition).

As the FDA has explained, "Labeling is not intended to be a dispositive treatise of all possible data and information about a drug. It is intended instead to advise about potential hazards and to convey documented statements concerning safety and effectiveness . . . ."

44 Fed. Reg. 37434, 37441 (1979). The physician, not the manufacturer, is best positioned to make treatment decisions:

Doctors are in a unique position to determine how best to treat their patients - a much better position than that of a far-away official in a pharmaceutical company, whose job is merely to write warnings. The law does not mandate that pharmaceutical manufacturers and marketers provide such specific instructions that they leave little room for doctors' reasonable medical judgment.

In re Meridia Prods. Liab. Litig., 328 F. Supp. 2d 791, 813-14 (N.D. Ohio 2004) (rejecting plaintiffs' argument that the drug label should have provided guidance on proper treatment for the condition warned of and granting summary judgment in favor of pharmaceutical manufacturers), *aff'd*, 447 F.3d 861 (6th Cir. 2006).

Put simply, a prescription drug manufacturer's duty does not extend to the practice of medicine. "[T]he warnings are intended to be read by learned intermediaries who are presumed to have considerable medical training as well as the ability to access the medical literature if they require additional information." *Ames v. Apothecon, Inc.*, 431 F. Supp. 2d 566, 573 (D. Md. 2006) (finding that warning of the risk of SJS/TEN with amoxicillin was adequate as a matter of law and also that risk was well-recognized in the medical community and by the prescribing doctor). "A manufacturer fulfills its duty to the medical community when it warns of the risk inherent in use of the drug. There is no requirement that the warning apprise the doctor of how to properly diagnose the

condition that renders use dangerous." *Nichols v. Clare Cmty.*Hosp., 476 N.W.2d at 495.<sup>5</sup>

Moreover, the precise symptoms that Plaintiff claims should have been described in the Lamictal® label are already well known to psychiatrists who treat bipolar patients—the target audience for the label. Dr. David L. Dunner, a board-certified psychiatrist in the State of Washington and professor at the University of Washington School of Medicine, testified without contradiction that the psychiatric community is aware that Lamictal® is associated with SJS/TEN and that the diseases are characterized by skin rash and mucous membrane involvement. CP 772-73, Dunner Decl. ¶¶ 13, 18, 20. As a professor at the University of Washington, Dr. Dunner estimates that he has trained and consulted with most psychiatrists in the State of Washington, and that "it is commonly understood by psychiatrists and other clinicians that [Lamictal®] is associated with SJS/TEN and that these are mucocutaneous disorders." CP 773,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Accord Guevara v. Dorsey Labs., 845 F.2d 364, 367–68 (1st Cir. 1988) (rejecting plaintiff's argument that a warning about "allergic reactions" should also have identified skin rash because physicians should generally be aware that skin rash was a potential outcome of an allergic reaction); Stahl v. Novartis Pharm. Corp., 283 F.3d 254, 268 (5th Cir. 2002) (rejecting plaintiff's argument that the drug label should have warned about "liver failure" and "death" in addition to hepatitis because physicians were expected to know that these were possible outcomes of hepatitis); Plenger v. Alza Corp., 13 Cal.Rptr.2d 811, 819 (Cal. App. 1992) (rejecting plaintiff's argument that label should have warned that failure to treat the identified adverse event might lead to death).

Dunner Decl. ¶ 18. According to Dr. Dunner, the standard of care for the psychiatric community is not only to be aware of the serious risks of a drug, but also to have an understanding of the signs and symptoms of such serious risks—relying on product labeling *and* relevant medical literature, medical training, clinical experience, practice guidelines, and continuing medical education courses. CP 772, Dunner Decl. ¶ 13.6 As such, Dr. Dunner believes it is well-known within the relevant medical community—Washington psychiatrists who prescribe Lamictal®—that taking Lamictal® may cause SJS/TEN and that these conditions are characterized by a skin rash and involvement of the mucous membranes. CP 773, Dunner Decl. ¶ 20.7

Plaintiff offered no expert psychiatric testimony to dispute Dr. Dunner, and Plaintiff's experts (one of whom is not even a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Plaintiff's suggestion that a published article of a study that was sponsored by GSK and partially written by GSK employees somehow proves that GSK knew that the 2007 Lamictal® label was inadequate (App. Br. at 13), reflects Plaintiff's persistent confusion between the role of the FDA-approved label and the practice of medicine. The article is simply another example of scientific literature that contributes to the knowledge and training of treating physicians. Such articles improve the practice of medicine, but they do not reflect what is required in an FDA-approved label.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Plaintiff concedes that "[t]he standard of care also requires physicians evaluating adverse drug reactions to be aware of the[] signs and symptoms [of an adverse reaction] and of their potentially life-threatening consequences." App. Br. at 12.

physician) have never prescribed Lamictal®. Both of Plaintiff's experts readily admitted (see pp. 25-26 below) that they are unaware of what prescribing physicians know about SJS/TEN.

In sum, the 2007 Lamictal® label plainly and repeatedly warned that taking Lamictal® presents a danger of SJS/TEN, the precise condition at issue here. The label is therefore adequate as a matter of law. Plaintiff's attempt to transform the label into a medical manual is inconsistent with Washington law and would be bad policy.<sup>8</sup>

## 3. GSK Fulfilled Its Duty to Warn Dr. Conway.

On appeal, Plaintiff concedes that under the Learned Intermediary Doctrine, GSK has a duty to warn physicians and there is no duty to warn Plaintiff directly. App. Br. at 26. In every case in which Washington courts have interpreted the Learned Intermediary Doctrine with respect to a prescription drug manufacturer's duty to

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